IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RUSSELL OWEN INSKO,

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No. SC06-1619

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MAUREEN E. SURBER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0153958

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 10, 2001, the State Attorney for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, filed an Information charging Appellant, RUSSELL INSKO, with one count of lewd or lascivious conduct (solicit), in violation of section 800.04(6)(a)2 and (b)(6), Florida Statutes (2001). The Information alleged three victims. On February 17, 2003, the State Attorney filed an Amended Information charging Appellant, RUSSELL INSKO, with one count of lewd or lascivious conduct (solicit), in violation of section 800.04(6)(a)2 and (b)(6), Florida Statutes (2001). The Information alleged one victim: Justin Stokes. The events giving rise to the charges occurred on November 12, 2001. (V1/R18-19)

On February 17, 2003, Mr. Insko filed "Defendant's Motion to Strike State's Notice of Intent to Rely on <u>Williams</u> rule evidence and Defendant's Motion in Limine." (V1/R48-58) Written objections to the Introduction of <u>Williams</u> rule evidence were filed on February 19, 2003. (V1/R61-67) The motion was denied by the trial court on February 19, 2003. (V1/R70-71)

A jury trial was held on February 20, 2003. On that date, the jury found him guilty of a lesser charge, specifically

lewd and lascivious conduct (solicitation) of a person under 16 years of age by a defendant under 18 years of age. (V1/R86) The Honorable Barbara Fleischer, Circuit Judge, sentenced Mr. Insko to five years FSP on February 20, 2003. The trial court found Mr. Insko qualified to be a sexual predator and sentenced him as such. The trial court imposed a fine of \$5000 as a judgment lien, as well as \$500 for his attorney's fees, a \$40 application fee, and \$261 in court costs. (V1/R93-100)

Mr. Insko filed a timely notice of appeal and the case proceeding in the Second District under appeal number 2D03-1490. On August 27, 2004, the Second District Court reversed and remanded the cause for a new trial. The Second District held <u>Williams</u> rule evidence could not be used against Mr. Insko. The Mandate was issued on November 23, 2004.

On remand, the instant case came before the Honorable Barbara Fleischer, Circuit Judge. A hearing was held before the Honorable Barbara Fleischer, Circuit Judge, on February 14, 2005. (V2/R174-220) At the hearing before a retrial, defense counsel argued that Mr. Insko could not be convicted of lewd and lascivious conduct (solicitation) by a person under the age of 18 upon a person under the age of 16 because Mr. Insko was absolutely older than 18 at the time of the criminal incident. (V1/R179) The State argued the age requirement is not an element of the offense, but rather a

necessity for punishment purposes only. The defense argued Mr. Insko was convicted by a jury of the specific crime of lewd and lascivious conduct (solicitation) by a person under the age of 18 upon a person under the age of 16. The trial court ruled Mr. Insko could be tried again but with the age requirement completely "left out" of the trial and if convicted, only be sentenced under third degree felony restrictions. The parties stipulated this issue was dispositive. Mr. Insko's birth certificate was entered into evidence. (V2/R174-220)

On February 14, 2005, Mr. Insko pled no contest to the charge of lewd and lascivious conduct (solicit) by a person under 18 upon a person under 16, in violation of section 800.04(6)(c), Florida Statutes (2001). Mr. Insko specifically pled reserving his right to appeal the dispositive ruling argued at length on that date. (V1/R153-155; V2/R210-217) The Honorable Barbara Fleischer, Circuit Judge, sentenced Mr. Insko to 3.2 years state prison with credit for time served. (V1/R159-165)

A timely notice of appeal was filed on March 2, 2005. (V1/R167)

On July 14, 2006, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court's ruling. In its opinion, the Second District did certify a this question of great public importance:

IN LIGHT OF THE RULING IN GLOVER V. STATE, 863 So. 2d 236 (fla. 2003), IS THE AGE OF THE OFFENDER AN ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE OF LEWD OR LASCIVIOUS CONDUCT UNDER SECTION 800.04(6), FLORIDA STATUTES?

A Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed on August 11, 2006, and this Court accepted jurisdiction on September 13, 2006.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Insko's motion for discharge by ruling that age is not an element in lewd and lascivious conduct. The jury convicted Mr. Insko of a lesserincluded offense, making this an acquittal of the charged offense. Double jeopardy principles preclude the State from retrying Mr. Insko on the original offense. District relied on Desbonnes v. State, 846 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), which held age was not an element in the lewd and lascivious statute, but rather necessary for punishment purposes only. In Desbonnes, the Fourth District likened the lewd and lascivious statute to the sexual battery statute, and relied on Jesus v. State, 565 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 1990) as precedent for the proposition that age was not an element of the offense. However, this Court, in Glover v. State, 863 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 2003) overruled Jesus v. State, specifically finding that age was an element in sexual battery cases. Because the instant case is analogous to Glover, the trial court erred in ruling age was not an element of Mr. Insko's lewd and lascivious conduct charge.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

IN LIGHT OF THE RULING IN GLOVER V. STATE, 863 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 2003), IS THE AGE OF THE OFFENDER AN ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE OF LEWD OR LASCIVIOUS CONDUCT UNDER SECTION 800.04(6), FLORIDA STATUTES?

The issue presents a question of law, which is subject to a de novo standard of review. Mansfield v. State, 911 So. 2d 1160 (Fla. 2005).

The trial court erred in its ruling that the age requirement of section 800.04(6)(a)(2) and (c), Florida Statutes (2001) was not an element of the offense. The case presents unique facts since Mr. Insko was originally charged with violating section 800.04(6)(a)(2) and (b), Florida Statutes (2001) (Lewd and lascivious conduct (solicitation) by a person older than 18 years of age upon a person under 18 However, at trial, a jury convicted Mr. Insko years of age. of lewd and lascivious conduct by a person under 18 years of age upon a person under 16 years of age, in violation of section 800.04(6)(a)(2) and (c), Florida Statutes (2001). This is a third-degree felony. §800.04(6)(c), Fla. (2001). After the Second District Court of Appeal reversed his conviction and remanded for a new trial, this is the charge Mr. Insko was set to go to trial on.

Section 800.04(6), Florida Statutes (2001) states:

(a)A person who:

- 1. Intentionally touches a person under 16 years of age in a lewd or lascivious manner; or
- 2. Solicits a person under 16 years of age to commit a lewd or lascivious act commits lewd or lascivious conduct.
- (b) An offender 18 years of age or older who commits lewd or lascivious conduct commits a felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s775.083, or s. 775.084
- (c) An offender less than 18 years of age who commits lewd or lascivious conduct commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s775.083, or s. 775.084.

Mr. Insko faced retrial under section 800.04(6)(a)(2) and (c), Florida Statutes (2001), a third-degree felony. Mr. Insko had specifically been acquitted of lewd and lascivious conduct (solicitation) of a person under 16 years of age by a person over 18 years of age, a second-degree felony. Mr. Insko moved for discharge, when, upon entering his birth certificate into evidence, it was impossible for the State to prove he was under age 18 when the crime occurred. The trial court erred in ruling the age of the perpetrator was not an element of the offense. A thorough reading of the statute evidences that it is an element. A jury must decide age, as the jury instructions at the original trial did specify, otherwise it is unclear which crime had been committed, as well as which subsection of the statute is appropriate for sentencing purposes.

The trial court's solution of proceeding with the trial but "leaving the age out" of the trial is improper and

violates double jeopardy. Specifically, the trial court proposed the State prove only two elements of the crime, and then, if the jury convicted Mr. Insko, the trial court would only sentence him based on the third-degree felony (under 18) limitation, plus any applicable enhancements. Essentially, the State wanted to fool the jury into convicting Mr. Insko of a "blanket" crime of lewd and lascivious solicitation, when in reality they were trying to convict him of the original crime for which he had already been acquitted. Double jeopardy precludes the State from retrying Mr. Insko by proving only two elements: 1) that the victim was under age 16 and 2) Mr. Insko solicited the victim to commit a lewd or lascivious act. This violates both the Federal and Florida Constitution Double Jeopardy Clauses which protect individuals against a subsequent prosecution for the same offense after acquittal. The jury specifically convicted Mr. Insko of the lesser crime. It is evident upon reading the statute that the crime of lewd and lascivious solicitation by a person over 18 years of age upon a person under 16 years of age is a different crime than the crime of lewd an lascivious solicitation by a person under 18 years of age upon a person under 16 years of age. One major difference is the degree each felony holds.

Mr. Insko's original information specifically charged him with lewd and lascivious conduct (solicitation) by a person over 18 years of age upon a person under 18 years of age. The

verdict form included this crime, as well as the one the jury convicted Mr. Insko of committing. Now upon retrial and realizing the charge is one the State absolutely cannot prove, the State is willing to drop the age requirement in order to obtain an otherwise impossible conviction.

This Court's decision in <u>Glover v. State</u>, 863 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 2003) supports the proposition that age is an element of the crime. <u>Glover</u> dealt with the sexual battery statute section 794.011. Section 794.011(2) provides:

- (a) A person 18 years of age or older who commits sexual battery upon, or in an attempt to commit sexual battery injures the sexual organs of, a person less than 12 years of age commits a capital felony...
- (b) A person less than 18 years of age who commits sexual battery upon, or in an attempt to commit sexual battery injures the sexual organs of, a person less than 12 years of age commits a life felony...

Glover argued his conviction for capital sexual battery was invalid because the trial court did not instruct the jury that the age of Glover was an element of the crime. Had the jury found Mr. Glover was under 18 years old at the time of the incident, Mr. Glover could be convicted of no greater a crime than sexual battery carrying a life felony, not capital sexual battery. This Court held age was an element of the crime and stated:

Indeed, it seems that if the age of the victim (under twelve) is an element of the offense (and this is recognized by the

Standard Jury Instruction on sexual battery of a victim under twelve which was given by the court in the instant case), then the age of the defendant, set out in the same section of the statutes creating the offense, should also be.

Id. It is important to note this Court's decision in Glover was consistent with the Fifth District's holding in D'Ambrosio v. State, 736 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), and the Third District's holding in Baker v. State, 604 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), which both state that age is an element in sexual battery offenses.

More importantly, in Glover, this Court specifically overruled the Fourth District's holding in Jesus v. State, 565 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), wherein the Fourth District found age not to be an element of sexual battery. Later, in Desbonnes v. State, 846 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), the Fourth District held age not to be an element in the crime of lewd and lascivious molestation. In doing so, the Fourth District relied on Jesus v. State, 565 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), because it found the structure and the language of the sexual battery statute in Jesus to be "compellingly analogous to section 800.04(5) governing lewd and lascivious molestation". Desbonnes, 846 So. 2d 565 at 566. The Fourth District also found the structure and language of the sexual battery statute and lewd and lascivious molestation statute to be "virtually identical". Id. While the Fourth District was

correct in its comparison of the sexual battery statute 794.011 and the lewd and lascivious molestation found in 800.04, the Fourth District reached the wrong result.

In order to support its argument that age is not a requirement of the lewd and lascivious statute at issue, the trial court in the instant case relied on <u>Desbonnes</u>. In affirming, the Second District also relied on this <u>Desbonnes</u> in order to rule Mr. Insko's age was important only for punishment purposes and was not an element of his offense. The Second District acknowledged Mr. Insko's argument that <u>Desbonnes</u> has been implicitly quashed by <u>Glover</u>, but found "<u>Glover</u> is distinguishable in that it is dealing with a different statute and does not specifically address the holding in <u>Desbonnes</u>." <u>Insko v. State</u>, 933 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006).

The Fifth District recently addressed this issue in <u>State v. D.A.</u>, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D2422 (Fla. 5^{th} DCA Sept. 22, 2006). In <u>D.A.</u>, the State appealed an order dismissing the delinquency petition charging D.A. with lewd and lascivious molestation. <u>Id</u>. The trial court dismissed the petition pursuant to the speedy trial rule because the State amended the petition during the recapture period to correctly charge the juvenile under section 800.04(5)(d), Florida Statutes, which applies to a defendant under age 18. The State had originally charged D.A. under section 800.04(5)(c)(2), which

applies to a defendant over the age of 18. <u>Id</u>. The trial court ruled that age was an element of the offense, and therefore, this amendment to the petition charged a different, and new, crime. As such, under <u>State v. Clifton</u>, 905 So. 2d 172, 178 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005), the trial court was compelled to dismiss the amended petition because after expiration of speedy trial, upon proper motion, the court must dismiss any new charge arising from the same criminal episode as the one charged in the original information. <u>State v. D.A.</u>, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D2422 (Fla. 5th DCA Sept. 22, 2006), citing <u>State v.</u> Williams, 791 So. 2d 1088, 1091 (Fla. 2001).

The Fifth District agreed with the trial court, specifically holding age is an element of the offense of lewd and lascivious molestation. <u>Id</u>. The Fifth District acknowledged it was relying on the precedent set by this Court in <u>Glover</u>. In its decision, the Fifth District addressed the instant case:

Interestingly, the Second District recently elected to follow Desbonnes, holding that the age of the defendant is not an element of the charge of lewd or lascivious Insko v. State, 933 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006). The court reasoned that because $\underline{\mbox{Glover}}$ dealt only with the crime of sexual battery, it did not apply. While we agree with the Second District's conclusion that under a 'plain reading' of the statute, the age of the defendant is probably more properly viewed sentencing consideration, and not element of the offense, we do not believe that Glover can be distinguished. The very reason that the Fourth District applied its

analysis and holding from Jesus in Desbonnes was that the two statutes are virtually identical.' This being true, we believe that we are compelled by Glover to conclude that the age of the defendant is also an element of the crime of lewd or lascivious molestation. Therefore, we certify conflict with Insko.

Id.

The Second District's decision in the instant case is based on <u>Desbonnes</u>, which blatantly relies on <u>Jesus</u>. <u>Glover</u> specifically overruled <u>Jesus</u>. The Second District erred in relying on <u>Desbonnes</u> when the instant case is more closely analogous to <u>Glover</u> and <u>D.A.</u>. As such, the Second District should have ruled age to be an element of the lewd and lascivious conduct (solicitation) by a person under 18 years of age upon a person under 16 years of age.

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Inkso's motion for discharge since it was impossible for the State to prove he committed the crime while under age eighteen. Likewise, the Second District erred in holding age was not an element of the offense of lewd and lascivious molestation. Accordingly, the Appellant respectfully requests this Court reverse this cause and discharge him from his conviction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Mr. Insko respectfully requests this Court reverse this cause and discharge him from the conviction.