IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RUSSELL OWEN INSKO,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC06-1619

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 238538

Susan D. Dunlevy Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No. 229032 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813)287-7900 Fax (813)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Firstly, the Second District correctly held that the age of the offender is not an element of the crime of lewd or lascivious conduct under Section 800.04(6), Florida Statutes (2001), but rather is a potential sentencing enhancement.

Secondly, the question of whether or not the perpetrator's age is an element of the crime of lewd or lascivious conduct is irrelevant to the question of whether Petitioner is entitled to discharge in the instant case. The real issue here is whether Petitioner can be retried after having been found guilty in his first trial of a lesser included offense of the charged offense, which offense includes a factual finding not supported by the evidence, although the evidence would support a conviction of the charged offense. Because Petitioner did not raise this issue on his original appeal, he is estopped to raise it after remand to the trial court for a new trial.

Thirdly, even if Petitioner had raised this issue on his

original appeal, since the jury's conviction of a lesser included offense is considered an acquittal of the charged offense, double jeopardy principles preclude Petitioner's retrial on the charged offense, but he can be retried on the lesser included offense of which he was convicted at his first trial. Moreover, because Petitioner's age, whether it is considered an element of the offense or not, does not determine whether he committed any offense at all, but only the degree of felony he is guilty of, and because that issue was determined in his favor by the original jury, the trial court's conclusion that the issue of Petitioner's age should not be placed before the jury at all at Petitioner's second trial was correct.

An accused who is convicted of a lesser degree of the charged offense may not be heard to complain that he should be set free merely because the evidence shows that he was guilty of the greater offense. Petitioner is not entitled to discharge.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER, IN LIGHT OF THE RULING IN GLOVER V. STATE, 863 SO. 2D 236 (FLA. 2003), THE AGE OF THE OFFENDER IS AN ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE OF LEWD OR LASCIVIOUS CONDUCT UNDER SECTION 800.04(6), FLORIDA STATUTES.

This is a question of law, which is reviewed de novo. Elder v. Holloway, 510 U.S. 510, 516, 114 S. Ct. 1019, 1023, 127 L. Ed. 2d 344 (1994); State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So. 2d 297, 301-02 n. 7 (Fla. 2001) ("If the ruling consists of a pure question of law, the ruling is subject to de novo review.").

The Second District correctly held that the age of the offender is not an element of the crime of lewd or lascivious conduct under Section 800.04(6), Florida Statutes (2001), but rather is a potential sentencing enhancement.

Section 800.04(6) provides in pertinent part:

- (6) Lewd or lascivious conduct.-
- (a) A person who:

* * *

2. Solicits a person under 16 years of age to commit a lewd or lascivious act commits lewd or lascivious conduct.

- (b) An offender 18 years of age or older who commits lewd or lascivious conduct commits a felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (c) An offender less than 18 years of age who commits lewd or lascivious conduct commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.

In contrast, Section 794.011(2) provides:

- (a) A person 18 years of age or older who commits sexual battery upon, or in an attempt to commit sexual battery injures the sexual organs of, a person less than 12 years of age commits a capital felony....
- (b) A person less than 18 years of age who commits sexual battery upon, or in an attempt to commit sexual battery injures the sexual organs of, a person less than 12 years of age commits a life felony....

A careful perusal of these two statutes reveals that they are structured differently.

Section 794.011(2) consists of two subsections. Section 794.011(2)(a), in and of itself alone, defines the crime of capital sexual battery, although that crime is not so named in Section 794.011(2)(a). Section 794.011(2)(b), in and of itself alone, defines a separate crime, also unnamed in the statutory subsection that creates it.

Section 800.04(6), on the other hand, consists of three subsections. The first subsection, subsection (a), defines the crime of lewd or lascivious conduct, an element of which is that the victim's age must be less than 16 years; this definition does not mention the perpetrator's age. Subsections (b) and (c) go on to set the degree of the offense based on the age of the perpetrator, making the crime a second degree felony when committed by someone 18 years old or older and a third degree felony when committed by someone under the age of 18 years. Section 800.04(5), which deals with lewd or lascivious molestation, is similarly structured although more complicated.

Thus, unlike in Section 794.011(2), where each of the two subsections defines a separate crime, Section 800.04(6) defines the crime in one subsection, which is followed by two more subsections setting the degree of the crime based on the perpetrator's age. Accordingly, the perpetrator's age is not an element of the crime of lewd or lascivious conduct.

The Second District was eminently correct in concluding that this Court's opinion in *Glover v. State*, 863 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 2003), which held that the age of the defendant is an element of capital sexual battery under Section 794.011(2), is distinguishable from the instant case in that it deals with a

different statute and does not specifically address the holding in Desbonnes v. State, 846 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), cause dismissed, 854 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 2003). As Petitioner notes, Desbonnes held that the age of the offender was not an element of the offense of lewd and lascivious molestation, relying on Jesus v. State, 565 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), in which the offense involved was capital sexual battery. Although this Court disapproved Jesus' holding that the age of the defendant is not an element of capital sexual battery, that does not obviate the Second District's conclusion that Desbonnes was right for the wrong reason based on a plain reading of Section 800.04(6). And State v. D.A., 939 So. 2d 149 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), upon which Petitioner relies, reaches an incorrect conclusion on this issue based on the same wrong reason as Desbonnes relied on, that is, that the sexual battery and lewd and lascivious conduct statutes are "virtually identical."

Nevertheless, even if this Court were to disagree with the Second District's answer to the certified question, Petitioner would not be entitled to the relief he seeks. The real issue in the instant case is whether Petitioner can be retried after having been found guilty in his first trial of a lesser included offense of the charged offense, which offense includes a factual

finding not supported by the evidence, although the evidence would support a conviction of the charged offense. That issue has NEVER been raised by Petitioner, not below and not in this Court.

In the first appeal in this case, Petitioner did not argue that he was entitled to discharge rather than a new trial, and the Second District in its opinion did not order Petitioner's discharge, but only a new trial. While the State agrees (and has never argued to the contrary) that double jeopardy precludes Petitioner's reprosecution for the second degree felony originally charged in light of the original jury verdict finding him guilty of the third degree felony of "Lewd or Lascivious Conduct (Solicit) (defendant under eighteen years of age)," the suggestion that, based on this jury finding, Petitioner is entitled to discharge was never made on the record by anyone until defense counsel so argued on remand after this Court's reversal for a new trial. Under these circumstances, as the majority in the Second District stated below in their concurring opinion, Petitioner is now estopped to assert that he may not be retried for the third-degree felony offense of lewd or lascivious conduct upon a person under sixteen years of age in violation of section 800.04(6)(a)(2) and (c). Insko v. State,

933 So. 2d at 683.

Finally, even if opposing counsel had made such an argument in the original appeal, it would have been without merit.

Rule 3.490, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides: "If the indictment or information charges an offense divided into degrees, the jury may find the defendant guilty of the offense charged or any lesser degree supported by the evidence. The judge shall not instruct on any degree as to which there is no evidence." And Rule 3.510 provides in pertinent part:

On an indictment or information on which the defendant is to be tried for any offense the jury may convict the defendant of:

* * *

(b) any offense that as a matter of law is a necessarily included offense or a lesser included offense of the offense charged in the indictment or information and is supported by the evidence. The judge shall not instruct on any lesser included offense as to which there is no evidence.

Based on these rules, it appears that the trial court should not have instructed the jury that it could find Petitioner guilty of either lewd or lascivious solicitation by a defendant under 18 years old or assault inasmuch as neither of these offenses was supported by the evidence.

However, this Court's opinion in Amado v. State, 585 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 1991), suggests that the instruction on the permissive

lesser included offense of lewd or lascivious solicitation by a defendant under 18 years old was proper despite the evidence that Petitioner's age was greater than 18 years. Amado, which was followed by the Second District in Olea-Tejeda v. State, 732 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), held that the trial court was required to instruct the jury on simple possession as a lesser included offense of trafficking in cocaine by sale, manufacture, delivery, or possession even though there was no evidence that the amount of drugs involved in the transaction in question was less than 28 grams. Under the rationale of Amado, it would seem that lewd or lascivious solicitation by a defendant under 18 years old would constitute a permissive lesser included offense of lewd or lascivious solicitation by a defendant 18 years of age or older.

[O]ne of the basic underlying policy reasons for allowing a jury to convict on a lesser included offense is that it allows a jury, in the proper case, to exercise its "pardon" power by acquitting the defendant of the charged offense and convicting the defendant of a lesser offense. State v. Wimberly, 498 929, 932 (Fla. 1986) requirement that a trial judge must give a requested instruction on a necessarily lesser included offense is bottomed upon a recognition of the jury's right to exercise its 'pardon power.'"); State v. Bruns, 429 307, 310 (Fla. 1983); State v. So. Abreau, 363 So. 2d 1063, 1064 (Fla. 1978). The exercise of such a "pardon" power

necessarily presupposes that the lesser offense carries a lesser penalty, else a conviction on a lesser offense could hardly constitute a "pardon." In recognition of this power, the Florida Supreme Court has stated that lesser included offenses "give[] the jury an opportunity to convict of an offense with less severe punishment than the crime charged." State v. Baker, 456 So. 2d 419, 422 (Fla. 1984). FN2

FN2. ...Fla. Stand. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 2.02(a) authorizes the jury to consider a lesser included offense only if it decides that the charged offense has not been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, which...seems to preclude a "jury pardon"; indeed, nowhere in the standard jury instructions is the jury ever instructed that it has the power of a "pardon." However, our law has always been somewhat schizophrenic on this point because in the jury's de facto power to find a defendant quilty of a lesser included offense, Florida law has always recognized that the jury, in fact, has a pardon power. This is so because we routinely acceptand do not set aside based on misconduct-a verdict where the jury in effect, ignored instruction and found the defendant quilty of a lesser included offense, although it may be convinced based on highly persuasive evidence [and, evidence indeed. such may uncontradicted] that the charged offense was, in fact, committed; we call such a verdict a "jury pardon" and do not disturb it. This long-standing practice may not be intellectually satisfying to legal purists, but, on the other hand, it allows juries to do substantial justice in extenuating circumstances, something which our law has always prized.

Another underlying policy reason for lesser included offenses-which is related to the pardon" rationale—is that procedure allows a jury, which is otherwise hung on the ultimate issue of guilt or innocence, to compromise its internal differences by finding the defendant guilty of a lesser offense. Those jurors leaning acquittal toward an outright accordingly, be persuaded to convict on an offense which is less serious than the charged offense; and those jurors leaning toward conviction on the charged offense may be persuaded to convict on a less serious charge rather than risk a hung jury.

Nurse v. State, 658 So.2d 1074, 1078 (Fla. 3 DCA 1995), review denied, 667 So. 2d 775 (Fla. 1996) (bracketed material in original, footnote omitted). As defense counsel conceded below, the original jury verdict sub judice may well have been a jury pardon.

Moreover, even if the original jury should not have been instructed on the offense of which Petitioner was convicted, Petitioner is not entitled to any relief. This is because this Court held in Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1981), that

it is not fundamental error to convict a defendant under an erroneous lesser included charge when he had an opportunity to object to the charge and failed to do so if...the improperly charged offense is lesser in degree and penalty than the main offense....Failure to timely object precludes relief from such a conviction.

Id. at 961 (footnote omitted), reaffirmed in Armstrong v. State,
579 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1991); followed, Firsher v. State, 834 So.
2d 921 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 859 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 2003),
and Chambers v. State, 880 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), review
denied, 905 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 2005).

Since the jury's conviction of a lesser included offense is considered an acquittal of the charged offense, double jeopardy principles preclude Petitioner's retrial on the charged offense, but there is no authority for the proposition that he cannot be retried on the lesser included offense of which he was convicted at his first trial. Moreover, because Petitioner's age, whether it is considered an element of the offense or not, does not determine whether he committed any offense at all, but only the degree of felony he is guilty of, and because that issue was

determined in his favor by the original jury, the trial court's conclusion that the issue of Petitioner's age should not be placed before the jury at all at Petitioner's second trial was correct.

Two of the cases upon which Petitioner relies show the folly of his position. In Baker v. State, 604 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the Third District held that "in the absence of either a specific allegation in the charging document, or a finding by the jury that the defendant is eighteen years of age or over, a conviction for capital sexual battery cannot stand."

Id. at 1240 (footnotes omitted). However, the remedy afforded the defendant in that case was not discharge, as Petitioner would have this Court believe, but "to reduce the conviction to a life felony and to resentence the defendant accordingly." Id.

In Glover, this Court approved the Fifth District's holding that the trial court's failure to instruct the jury that the defendant's age was an element of the charged offense was harmless error inasmuch as the defendant was 35 years old at the time of the offense, the parties did not dispute that Glover was over 18 at trial, the jury was able to view the defendant at trial, the trial court advised the jury that Glover had to be over 18 to be convicted of the main charge, and that "'the jury

could not reasonably have found [Glover] to have been less than eighteen.'" 863 So. 2d at 237, quoting Glover v. State, 815 So. 2d 698 at 700 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). Petitioner here was 33% years old at the time of the offense, the parties did not dispute that Petitioner was over 18 at trial, the jury was able to view Petitioner at trial, and the trial court advised the jury that Petitioner had to be over 18 to be convicted as charged of the crime of which he was accused.

Jones v. State, 492 So. 2d 1124 (Fla. 3d DCA), review denied, 501 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1986), is analogous to the instant case. Jones, who was charged with a burglary, argued on appeal that the trial court had erred in instructing the jury on the lesser offense of attempt because the evidence adduced at trial showed that he had clearly completed the offense, that he was entitled to a new trial, and that, at any such new trial, he could be tried for neither burglary nor attempted burglary, only trespass. Jones recognized that the jury may have intended his attempted burglary conviction as a jury pardon, but he argued that Rule 3.510(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, had effectively abrogated the jury pardon power. The Third District noted that there was no authority suggesting that "Rule 3.510(a) was intended to overturn the substantive law of jury pardon,"

found that "the inquiry should be whether, in light of all the circumstances, the instruction was so confusing as to prejudice the defendant" and that there was no indication that the complained-of instruction confused or misled the jury, and concluded: "An accused who is convicted of an attempt as the lesser of a charged offense will not be heard to complain that he should be set free merely because the evidence shows that he was guilty of the greater offense." Id. at 1126.

Similarly, an accused who is convicted of a lesser degree of the charged offense should not be heard to complain that he should be set free merely because the evidence shows that he was guilty of the greater offense. Accordingly, Petitioner is not entitled to discharge in this case, and the Second District's affirmance of his judgment and sentence should be approved.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court approve the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal.